THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Charles B. Simmons, Jr., Master in Equity

Civil Action No. 2017-CP-23-06301
Appellate Case No. 2018-001209

Raymond Wedlake, individually and derivatively, on behalf of all Members of the
Woodington Homowners' Association, Inc.,Appellant,

v.

Benjamin Acord, William Craigo, Denis Esteve, and Brian James in their capacity as the
current Board of Directors of the Woodington Homeowners' Association, Inc., and
Association Management Group SC, Inc., Respondents.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Grant H. Gibson, Esq.
SC Bar No. 9269
G. Gibson & Associates, LLC
1200 Woodruff Rd Bldg. A-3
Greenville, SC 29607

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. Did the Master in Equity err in his determination that Appellant had not met the requirements to sustain a derivative action under Rule 23(b) by applying the wrong standard of a “majority” for the requirements for “fairly and adequately” and “similarly situated?”
- II. Did the Master in Equity err in refusing to permit Appellant to admit into the record the basis of the parties’ six stipulated issues before the Master in Equity, following Appellant’s request to do so during the trial, resulting in the Master in Equity ordering involuntary nonsuit?
- III. Did the Master in Equity err in refusing to take judicial notice of the By-Laws, pursuant to Rule 201 SCRE(d) and (f) at the close of the trial, and at the request of counsel for Appellant, which counsel for Appellant offered to the Court and which were “Exhibit A” as referred to in Appellant’s Verified Complaint?
- IV. Did the Master in Equity err in dismissing Appellant’s individual action, without specifying the basis, where Appellant’s testimony and the record provided a clear evidentiary basis for particularized injury and damages?
- V. Did the Master in Equity err in granting a motion of involuntary nonsuit against Appellant following counsel for Respondent’s motion for a directed verdict, when there was evidence on the record for Appellant’s claims of violation of the By-Laws?
- VI. Did the Master in Equity err in determining that the action for Declaratory relief was improper?
- VII. Did the Master in Equity err in concluding that “Stipulated Issues 1(b), 1(d), 1(e), and 1(f) were moot, advisory in nature, or otherwise fail to present actual “justiciable controversies” therefore declining to issue the requested declarations?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant Ray Wedlake appeals from the Order of Nonsuit. Appellant brought this action derivatively on behalf of the Woodington Homeowner Association (WHOA) seeking a Declaratory Judgment regarding interpretation of six stipulated By-Laws of WHOA, and a related action filed individually by Appellant for specific and particularized injury Appellant sustained as a Member of WHOA. It arises in the context of disputed By-Laws provisions and Respondents' refusal to appoint Appellant to sit on the Board of Directors where the By-Laws provide the Board must fill a vacancy and one existed, thus denying Appellant the ability to fight for his constituency and for their platform of transparency and proper Board Governance. On May 29, 2018, the Honorable Charles B. Simmons, Jr., Master in Equity, granted an involuntary nonsuit, on the derivative action and dismissed Appellant's individual action.

Such appeal is based upon application of the wrong standard in determining standing in derivative Rule 23(b) cases, the refusal of the Master in Equity to permit entry of the key By-Laws documents which were at the core of the action, or to take judicial notice thereof following the request of counsel for Appellant, as well as improper dismissal of Appellant's individual action where there was a clear showing of particularized injury.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

As set forth in Appellant's e-filed verified Complaint, and Exhibits and Affidavits made a part thereof, along with the Pre-Trial brief requested by the Master in Equity, Appellant is a long-time member in good standing of the WHOA and a long-time resident of the community. He is a former two-term member of its Board of Directors, where he served as Secretary and co-authored By-Laws Revisions. Appellant has a distinct Board Governance platform, which includes enhanced transparency, open Board meetings, agendas provided to Members in advance of meetings, and proposed changes to the By-Laws such as the adoption of a provision for Alternative Dispute Resolution.

Disputes over interpretation of the existing By-Laws arose in 2016, arising in part from the then Board exceeding the term-limit of five-years specified in the By-Laws and in the SC Nonprofit Corporation Act. On multiple occasions, commencing in 2016, Appellant sought resolution of the disputes related to the By-Laws. Such efforts included several notices to the Board specifying the issues, followed by proposed mediation for which Appellant offered to pay. Proper interpretation of another key By-Laws issue which gave rise to Appellant's individual action, was the Respondent's refusal to fill an open vacancy on the Board as required by the By-Laws, which provide that the Board "shall" fill any vacancies if a Member in good standing is willing to serve. As a member in good standing willing to serve and in the hopes of obtaining a platform to represent his minority constituency, Appellant offered to serve on the Board. Respondents rejected Appellant's offer to serve and did not fill such vacancy, as requested in early May 2017 (such vacancy was not filled until mid-January 2018), thus disenfranchising Appellant and those who support his platform.

After not receiving a response, Appellant next turned to the Office of the Attorney

General seeking an advisory opinion regarding the proper interpretation of the By-Laws. When the Office of the Attorney General declined and recommended to Appellant he seek judicial relief, Appellant once again sought dispute resolution with the Board, failing which Appellant provided Respondents with an advance courtesy copy of the proposed Complaint for Declaratory Relief, seeking one last time, dispute resolution with a stated deadline. Receiving no response by the deadline, Appellant filed a Verified Complaint in the Circuit Court, Greenville County (2017-CP-23-06301 in October 2017, R. pp. 18 - 98), individually as well as derivatively on behalf of WHOA, against the members of the Board in such capacities, as well as against the Association Management Group (AMG). The action against AMG was subsequently dismissed by agreement of all parties and the Court. Appellant's Complaint was supported by Affidavits as well as numerous exhibits, including a full, complete copy of the By-Laws.

ADMINISTRATIVE HISTORY

On October 5, 2017, Appellant filed a verified Complaint with affidavits and 26 Exhibits (C/A No: 2017-CP-23-06301). On November 6, 2017, Respondents moved to Dismiss under Rule 12(b)(6), SCRCPP, or for a more definite statement. Appellant filed a Brief in Opposition on December 1, 2017. Shortly thereafter Appellant offered to Mediate. On December 14, 2017, the parties attempted mediation for approximately three hours, and Respondent called an impasse. On January 3, 2018, the Circuit Court, Judge Stilwell, heard arguments. At the close of the hearing, Judge Stilwell recommended that parties seek to resolve the matter.

On January 23, 2018, the Court filed its Order denying Respondent's Motions "in all respects" (Order- Judge Stilwell, R. p. 5).

The parties agreed to transfer the case to the Master in Equity. The parties also agreed to submit six stipulated issues in dispute related to the By-Laws. Appellant sought Declaratory Judgment.

The Master in Equity, the Honorable Judge Simmons, received Pre-trial Briefs incorporating the Verified Complaint which specifically incorporated the Exhibits and Affidavits, identifying the disputed By-Laws, and the standard for analysis of standing in bringing a derivative action under Rule 23(b)(1).

The Court held a one-day trial on April 20, 2018. The Master in Equity stated that he had received the issues stipulated by the parties relative to the By-Laws and declined Appellant's request to make an opening statement, stating that the case had been "pre-tried" and that he was fully familiar with it.

The Master in Equity determined that Appellant lacked standing under Rule 23(b)(1) determining that he did not meet the requirement of "fairly and adequately" representing the

members of the WHOA finding that he did not represent a “majority” of the homeowners, and also ordered nonsuit because the By-Laws were not being formally admitted into the trial record. The Master in Equity rejected counsel for Appellant’s request to admit them prior to the close of the trial and his separate request that the court take judicial notice of them, since they were “Exhibit A” specifically referred to in the Complaint and a marked Exhibit for both Appellant (P-4) and Respondent (D-24). The Master in Equity dismissed Appellant’s individual action without comment or explanation. The Master in Equity also granted involuntary nonsuit on the derivative action. Appellant Wedlake appeals both rulings.

STANDARD OF REVIEW – FINDING OF INVOLUNTARY NONSUIT

This is an appeal from a determination of involuntary nonsuit. The Court “must review the evidence and all inferences in the light most favorable to the unmoving party.” (*W.R. Livingston v. Noland Corporation, et al*, 9293 S.C. 521, 362 S.E.2d 16 (SC Sup. Ct. 1987). “In deciding a motion for involuntary nonsuit, the trial court must consider the evidence and all reasonable inferences that can be drawn therefrom in the light most favorable to the party opposing the Motion and to grant the Motion if there is no evidence to support an alleged cause of action.” *Carver v. Medical Society*, 286 SC 347 (1985).

ARGUMENT

I. The Master in Equity erred ruling that Appellant could not bring a derivative action under Rule 23(b) without the support of a majority of the homeowners.

The issues arising under Rule 23, SCRCF, are both questions of law and of fact. Here the issue is the proper judicial standard to use for interpretation of a statute, specifically the meaning of “fairly and adequately” set forth in Rule 23, SCRCF., in meeting the requirement of standing and is thus a question of law. As such, the standard would be a *de novo* review by this Court.

It is established that the standard of review of appellate court of issues of law is that “[a]n appellate court may decide questions of law with no particular deference to the trial court.” (*Dreher v. Dreher*, 370 S.C. 75, 79, 634 S.E.2d 646, 648 (2006)). More fundamentally, this the determination of involuntary nonsuit by necessity involved the interpretation of a statute, SCRCF Rule 23(b)(3).

Rule 23(b)(1), SCRCF, addresses the procedural requirements for individuals seeking to file a derivative action. It states that in a derivative action brought by one or more shareholders or members to enforce a right of a corporation or of an unincorporated association, the corporation or association having failed to enforce a right which may properly be asserted by it, the complaint shall be verified and shall allege that the plaintiff was a shareholder or member at the time of the transaction of which he complains or that his share or membership thereafter devolved on him by operation of law. The complaint shall also allege with particularity the efforts, if any, made by the plaintiff to obtain the action he desires from the directors or comparable authority and, if necessary, from the shareholders or members, and the reasons for his failure to obtain the action or for not making the effort. The derivative action may not be maintained if it appears that the plaintiff does not fairly and adequately represent the interests of the shareholders or members similarly situated in enforcing the right of the corporation or

association.

- a) In ruling that Appellant failed to represent the Majority, the Master in Equity used the wrong standard in determining that Appellant failed to “fairly and adequately” represent “similarly situated” members of the homeowner association.**

Although the Court never clarified the basis under Rule 23(b) for determining Appellant lacked standing, the basis appears to be the failure of the Appellant to show that he was a proper representative of the members of WHOA since he did not represent the “majority” of the homeowners. As set forth in the Complaint and Exhibits and in counsel for Appellant’s Memorandum in Opposition to attorney for Respondent’s Motion to Dismiss, all specifically referred to in Counsel for Appellant’s Pre-Trial Brief requested by and provided to the Master in Equity, along with Appellant’s testimony at trial while Appellant acknowledged he did not represent a majority, he did have a constituency favoring his Board Governance platform, as evidenced by his receiving more than 10% of ballots cast for election of Directors (see *infra*).

Appellant respectfully suggests that the Master in Equity erred in his interpretation of the law regarding the proper standard to determine adequate representation, and the specific test of “fairly and adequately represent.” The law is clear, and counsel for Respondent is in error, when he states: “and the question is whether he [Appellant] fairly and adequately represents the interests of the community ...”, for all members of the Association (Transcript, April 20, 2018, R. p. 287, line 25 and p. 288, line 1). Similarly, in concluding that Appellant lacked standing to bring an action derivatively, the Master in Equity based such determination on the fact that “the evidence indicates that the Plaintiff lacks the support of the majority of the members.” (Order, R. p. 12, emphasis added). The position of the Master in Equity was that since Appellant did not represent the “majority” of homeowners he did not “fairly and adequately” represent “similarly situated” homeowners (Order, R. p. 12). Such a standard of “majority” is an improper

interpretation of what is required for to “fairly and adequately” represent the “similarly situated” group, here the homeowners. If the criteria were a “majority” then every case brought derivatively involving a minority shareholder(s)/member(s) would never have standing. Indeed, at the core of the derivative suit is oppression of the minority by the majority.

b) The Applicable Law in South Carolina - South Carolina courts have ruled that the test is not the relative number being represented. As set forth in *Brad Walbeck v. The I'On Company*, (Op. No. 5588 (S.C. Ct. App. filed Aug. 8, 2018)(Shearouse Adv. Sh. No. 32 at 125))(remanded on other grounds), in South Carolina the test is whether or not the shareholders or, as here, the members, are represented by qualified counsel and are similarly situated to the other HOA member” (See, e.g., *Runion v. U.S. Shelter*, 98 F.R.D. 313, 317 (D.S.C. 1983) interpreting the fourth class action requirement under Rule 23(a), FRCP, and holding, "In determining whether [the plaintiff] would be an adequate class representative, this court should look at two criteria—(1) the representative must have common interests with the unnamed members of the class; and (2) it must appear that the representative will vigorously prosecute the interests of the class through qualified counsel."); *Jordon v. Bowman Apple Prod. Co.*, 728 F. Supp. 409, 412 (W.D. Va. 1990) (emphasis added). The court in *Walbeck* went on to underscore that “Rule 23.1 places no minimum numerical limits on the number of shareholders who must be 'similarly situated.' In appropriate circumstances a single shareholder may be situated in a unique position and thus constitute a legitimate 'class of one.'" (citation omitted) (quoting *Halsted Video, Inc. v. Guttillo*, 115 F.R.D. 177, 180 (N.D. Ill. 1987); *Halsted*, 115 F.R.D. at 180 (“Rule 23.1[, FRCP] does not require a derivative action plaintiff to represent the interests of shareholders with whom he is not similarly situated.”). The court reversed on a finding that there were a few others that supported Appellant. In the instant case, Appellant received over 10

percent of votes cast (Exhibit D-5, R. pp. 389 - 391) in the 2017 Annual Meeting to elect Directors. The proper test is set forth in numerous-precedent cases in South Carolina. See also: *Jennings v. Kay Jennings Family Limited Partnership*, 275 Va. 594, 659 S.E.2d 283 (2008) setting forth a multitude of factors, such as economic antagonism, a hidden agenda on the part of Plaintiff, unfamiliarity by the party bringing the derivative action with the litigation, the relative position of the Plaintiff's individual interests versus that of the class.

It is clear from the record that Appellant has and will continue to vigorously represent his constituency. Moreover, as noted *infra*, counsel for Appellant, although suffering from back pain during the Trial (Transcript, April 20, 2018, R. pp. 229 - 327), has over 40 years of active practice, much of it representing homeowner associations, is a former Editor of the law review, and has proven his willingness and ability to advocate for the Appellant and those he represents, the WHOA. While there is always a certain amount of antagonism between the party bringing the derivative action and the party against whom it is brought, the overriding reason for such action by Appellant was to improve Board Governance and in the best interests of the association, as set forth in Appellant's testimony (*infra*), and as supported by Affidavits, and Exhibits to the Verified Complaint.

c) Other Jurisdictions – In addition to the failure of the Court to follow the established South Carolina law, we would note that another established body of law has adopted the “proper purpose test” for determining if a party “fairly and adequately” represents a class is that established in the *Catano* decision, as counsel for Appellant argued in such documents. (*Cattano v Bragg*, 727 S.E.2d 625 (Sup. Ct. Virginia 2012). In the 2008 case of *Cattano v. Bragg*, the Virginia Supreme Court recognized the right of an individual shareholder to file a derivative suit (along with an individual suit), finding the shareholder could fairly and adequately represent the

interest of the corporation; despite apparent animosity in that case since such animosity is typical in derivative actions {*Cattano v. Bragg*, 727 S.E. 2d 625, 283 Va. 638 (Sup. Ct. Va. 2012)}. In so finding, after citing numerous cases in support of a single shareholder having standing to sue derivatively in support, the Court adopted the factors used in *Jennings v. Kay Jennings Family Limited Partnership*, 275 Va. 594 (2008), taking aim in particular at the reason for the derivative suit (return of funds), which, as here was for protection of Members, which the court found was very appropriate. (Id). It focused its attention “on whether the totality of the circumstances suggest that the plaintiff will vigorously pursue the suit and that the remedy sought is in the interests of the corporation.” (*Cattano* at 627).

In *Cattano*, a Supreme Court determined that the proper test for determining whether a party bringing an action derivatively “fairly and adequately” represented those “similarly situated” (the language in SC Rule 23(b)(3)) was whether the “purpose” for bringing such derivative action was proper, i.e., that it would, if achieved, bring benefit to those being represented derivatively. Indeed, in the *Catano* case, the Appellant class action representative was one individual, as is the case here.

Appellant submits that pursuing a minority platform of improved board governance, with increased transparency, is a proper purpose.

Numerous jurisdictions have also determined that a derivative action may be brought by a solitary individual, i.e., that a “class” in a derivative action may consist of only one person. See, e.g., *Larson v. Dumke*, 900 F.2d 1363, 1368-69 (9th Cir. 1990), *Jordon v. Bowman Apple Products Co., Inc.* 728 f. Supp 409, 412-13 (W.D.Va 1990), *Halsted Video, Inc. v. Gutillo*, 115 F.R.D. 177, 179-80 (N.D. Ill. 1987) (finding a “legitimate class of one.”, where there was no indication, as here, that the plaintiff had improper motivation. Indeed, Appellant derivative

action was for a Declaratory Judgment on disputed By-Laws issues, to have the court determine their meaning, and not for breach of fiduciary duty nor for damages. Nor does the fact that Appellant brought an action individually lead to a conclusion that Appellant's individual interests were inimical to those of the homeowner members. (See, *Eye Site, Inc. v. Blackburn*, 796 W.W.2d 160, 161-63 (Tex. 1990). His individual action was to assure the By-Laws requiring the Board to fill a Board vacancy was enforced to assure homeowners with a will to serve were offered an opportunity to do so.

d) Appellant Met all the Criteria in SCRCP Rule 23 to bring suit derivatively. The record, starting with the verified Complaint and accompanying Affidavits and Exhibits, as well as the Pre-Trial Memorandum provided to the Master in Equity, show the Appellant met all of the criteria for bringing an action derivatively, including being a member at the time, notice with specificity, efforts to mediate, an attempt to get resolution through the SC Attorney general and verified complaint.

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