THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Charles B. Simmons, Jr., Master In Equity

---

Appellate Case No. 2018-001209  
Common Pleas Case No. 2017-CP-23-6301

---

**RECEIVED**  
JAN 08 2020  
SC Court of Appeals

Raymond A. Wedlake, individually and  
derivatively, on behalf of all Members of  
Woodington Homeowners' Association, Inc. ....Appellant,

v.

Benjamin Acord, William CRAIGO, Denis  
Esteve, and Brian James in their capacity  
as the current Board of Directors of the  
Woodington Homeowners' Association, Inc. .... Respondents.

---

**AMENDED FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS**

---

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

#### VII. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DISMISSING APPELLANT’S ACTION FOR DECLARATORY JUDGMENT

Per Issue VI from Appellant’s Statement of Issues, Appellant seems to suggest that the trial court found that Appellant’s request for declaratory relief is improper and erred by doing so. However, it is somewhat unclear from Appellant’s brief as to the exact nature of the alleged error or the specific finding being challenged. Instead, Appellant’s brief seems to merely regurgitate or paraphrase portions of Appellant’s Complaint relative to his asserted cause of action for Declaratory Judgments, including matters that were not even part of the stipulated issues for trial. (see ¶¶ 66-73 of Appellant’s Complaint); (R. pp. 29-31). Nonetheless, the Order of Judgment did not actually contain some finding that the general subject matters upon which Plaintiff sought

declaratory relief were *per se* improper subject matters under the Uniform Declaratory Judgments Act (S.C. Code Ann. §§ 15-53-10 to -140). Rather, the trial court made specific findings regarding why it was not granting certain requested declarations under the specific facts of this case, including: (1) failing to meet the requirements of Rule 23(b)(1) to pursue a derivative action; (2) lack of evidence/insufficient evidence to issue the requested declarations; and (3) lack of justiciable controversies. (R. pp. 11-15). Appellant has challenged each of these findings separately and each is addressed separately in Appellant's brief and in this brief. Therefore, Issue VI from Appellant's Statement of Issues appears to be repetitive and duplicate of Appellant's other grounds for appeal and does not appear to be alleging any additional error. For the reasons set forth herein, Respondents would respectfully assert that the Order of Judgment should be affirmed.

VIII. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN FINDING THAT STIPULATED ISSUES 1(b), 1(d), 1(e), AND 1(f) WERE MOOT, ADVISORY IN NATURE, OR OTHERWISE FAILED TO PRESENT ACTUAL JUSTICIABLE CONTROVERSIES

Appellant also contends that the trial court erred in concluding that stipulated issues 1(b), 1(d), 1(e), and 1(f) were moot, advisory in nature, or otherwise failed to present actual justiciable controversies. Respondents respectfully assert that there has been no error.

In his brief, Appellant primarily just makes general reference to his Complaint and the exhibits attached thereto to argue his assertion that a justiciable controversy exists, but he does not cite to any evidence from trial. In fact, Appellant really does not make any citation to evidence or testimony in the record to support his allegation of alleged error, nor does Appellant cite any legal authority. Therefore, this issue should be deemed abandoned and not considered in this appeal. Equivest Fin., LLC v. Ravenel, 422 S.C. 499, 505, 812 S.E.2d 438, 441 (Ct. App. 2018), reh'g denied (Apr. 26, 2018), cert. denied (Aug. 21, 2018) (an "issue is deemed

abandoned and will not be considered on appeal if the argument is raised in a brief but not supported by authority.”)

Additionally, any suggestion by Appellant that the parties stipulated to the justiciability of Appellant’s requested Declarations is misplaced. The Stipulation of Issues for Trial clearly states that Respondents were preserving their defenses, and that “nothing herein shall be construed to infer a waiver of any defenses by Defendants or that Defendants in any way stipulate that the matters raised by Plaintiff or the relief sought by Plaintiff are proper matters before the Court or proper matters to be heard by the Court.” (R. p. 179).

Further, to the extent that Appellant asserts that the denial of Respondents’ motion to dismiss is somehow the law of the case or precluded Respondents from challenging justiciability or standing at trial, such assertion is contrary to established law. The denial of a motion to dismiss, including one based on subject matter jurisdiction, does not finally determine anything and does not establish the law of the case – the matter can be raised again later in the case. McLendon v. S.C. Dep’t of Highways & Pub. Transp., 313 S.C. 525, 526 n.2, 443 S.E.2d 539, 540 (1994) (“Like the denial of a motion for summary judgment, the denial of a motion to dismiss does not establish the law of the case and the issue raised by the motion can be raised again at a later stage of the proceedings.”); Bessinger v. Bi-Lo, Inc., 366 S.C. 426, 431, 622 S.E.2d 564, 567 (Ct. App. 2005) (“It is clear from South Carolina case law that ‘[t]he denial of a Rule 12(b)(6) motion does not establish the law of the case nor does it preclude a party from raising the issue at a later point or points in the case.’”). See also, Woodard v. Westvaco Corp., 319 S.C. 240, 243 n.2, 460 S.E.2d 392, 394 (1995), overruled by Sabb v. S.C. State Univ., 350 S.C. 416, 567 S.E.2d 231 (2002) (“An order *denying* a motion to dismiss for lack of subject matter jurisdiction does not *finally* determine anything.”)

Even if the Court determines that this issue has not been abandoned and decides to address this issue, Respondents would nonetheless assert that the trial court did not err and the trial court's findings should be affirmed.

“The Uniform Declaratory Judgment[s] Act is not an independent grant of jurisdiction.” Tourism Expenditure Review Comm. v. City of Myrtle Beach, 403 S.C. 76, 81, 742 S.E.2d 371, 374 (2013). Before a court may render a declaratory judgment, an actual, justiciable controversy must exist. Pee Dee Elec. Co-op., Inc. v. Carolina Power & Light Co., 279 S.C. 64, 66, 301 S.E.2d 761, 762 (1983).

Before any action can be maintained, there must exist a justiciable controversy. Midland Guardian Co. v. Thacker, 280 S.C. 563, 314 S.E.2d 26 (Ct. App.), *cert. denied*, (1984). A justiciable controversy is a real and substantial controversy which is appropriate for judicial determination, as distinguished from a dispute or difference of a contingent, hypothetical or abstract character. Guimarin & Doan, Inc. v. Georgetown Textile & Mfg. Co., 249 S.C. 561, 155 S.E.2d 618 (1967). This Court will not pass on moot and academic questions or make an adjudication where there remains no actual controversy. Jones v. Dillon–Marion Human Resources Dev. Comm'n, 277 S.C. 533, 291 S.E.2d 195 (1982). Mootness has been defined as follows: “A case becomes moot when judgment, if rendered, will have no practical legal effect upon existing controversy. This is true when some event occurs making it impossible for [the] reviewing Court to grant effectual relief.” Mathis v. South Carolina State Highway Dep't, 260 S.C. 344, 346, 195 S.E.2d 713, 715 (1973).

Byrd v. Irmo High Sch., 321 S.C. 426, 430–31, 468 S.E.2d 861, 864 (1996). South Carolina courts “will not issue advisory opinions for which no meaningful relief can be granted.” In Interest of Kaundra C., 318 S.C. 484, 486, 458 S.E.2d 443, 444 (Ct. App. 1995). See also, West v. West, 263 S.C. 146, 149-150, 208 S.E.2d 530, 532-533 (1974); Power v. McNair, 255 S.C. 150, 153-155, 177 S.E.2d 551, 552-553 (1970). “Questions of statutory interpretation, by themselves, do not rise to the level of actual controversy.” Tourism Expenditure Review Comm., 403 S.C. at 81-82, 742 S.E.2d at 374

The existence of a justiciable controversy is a matter of subject matter jurisdiction. Tourism Expenditure Review Comm., 403 S.C. at 81, 742 S.E.2d at 373. Power, 255 S.C. at 153, 177 S.E.2d at 552. Generally, a plaintiff bears the burden of proving jurisdiction when jurisdiction is challenged by the defendant. See, Eldridge v. City of Greenwood, 331 S.C. 398, 410, 503 S.E.2d 191, 197 (Ct. App. 1998).

In this case, the evidence at trial supports the trial court's findings regarding lack of a justiciable controversy. Further, as set forth in detail supra, and as reiterated here, Respondents respectfully assert that Appellant cannot rely on his pleadings and pretrial submissions to try to establish his burden of proof at trial – Appellant is required have come forth with evidence at trial to establish that a justiciable controversy exists as to all of his requested declarations.

1. Stipulated Issue 1(d): That the court construe the Bylaws of the Association and declare that the bylaws do not permit a Director to remain beyond a five-year term, and in any event, for not more than one additional year beyond such five-year period.

At trial, Raymond Wedlake conceded that Respondents were serving their first terms as directors at the time of trial, rather than serving in a consecutive term. (R. p. 293, lines 21-24). He also agreed that the Respondents were not in violation of any term limits. (R. p. 293, line 25-p. 294, line 2). In fact, Mr. Wedlake testified at trial that it was the board members serving in 2016 that he felt had served terms in excess of what was allowed under law or the bylaws, and that is what gave rise to stipulated issue 1(d). (R. p. 236, line 17-p. 237, line 18; R. p. 262, lines 5-10). As testified to by Mr. Wedlake, the 2016 Board members were Richard Lacroix, Kristine Lynch, and Dawn Vanderbecke (not Respondents). (R. p. 257, line 24-p. 258, line 2). Therefore, any issue relating to purported violations of term length relates to the terms served by the prior board of directors and not any of the Respondents' terms. Thus, there was simply no controversy over the propriety of the Respondents' terms. It was purely conjectural, hypothetical, and

abstract at the time of trial that the Respondents may be elected to four additional successive terms, and Appellant acknowledged that the issue of the length of Respondents' terms would not be an issue until they had served five years. (See R. p. 296, line 21-p. 297, line 6). Consequently, any potential issue as to terms of the Respondents was unripe for adjudication. Appellant essentially just sued Respondents to get a declaration about what persons other than Respondents had done and to try to force the Respondent to acknowledge that the prior Board members had done something wrong. (See R. p. 295, line 9-p. 296, line 20). In addition, there was evidence at trial indicating that the membership voted at the annual meeting on January 10, 2017, to ratify the terms of the prior board of directors. (R. p. 294, lines 3-24). Thus, any purported issues with the prior board's terms had become moot in any event. In sum, the evidence indicates that Appellant sued Respondents over actions that were not their own and that had nonetheless already been ratified by the membership. Therefore, there is substantial evidence to support the trial court's finding of a lack of justiciable controversy.

2. *Stipulated Issue 1(b): That the court construe the Bylaws of the Association and declare that the bylaws place a duty on the Board of Directors to fill a vacancy on the Board of Directors and the Board of Directors must make reasonable efforts to do so.*

There was evidence at trial indicating that the vacancy on the Board had been filled prior to the time of trial and there was no vacancy on the board at the time of the trial. In fact, during his testimony, Mr. Wedlake conceded that the Board vacancy had been filled in January 2018. (R. p. 244, lines 18-23). Therefore, such issue had become moot and the trial court's decision is supported by the evidence at trial. Further, as set forth supra, there was evidence at trial that Appellant's conduct is what caused the vacancy to be created. As such, Respondents would respectfully assert that the party asserting a justiciable controversy cannot be the causation of the claimed controversy. Based on the foregoing, the trial court's ruling should be affirmed.

3. Stipulated Issue 1(e): That the court declare that the Bylaws of the Association do not permit delegation of the role or authority of the Board.

While Appellant raised the issue of the board of directors delegating duties, it seems clear from the stipulated issues and the evidence at trial that Appellant was seeking a general advisory opinion regarding what duties can be delegated and what cannot, rather than seeking a declaration as to whether any specific action by the Respondents was an improper delegation of the board's role or authority. As set forth above, South Carolina courts "will not issue advisory opinions for which no meaningful relief can be granted." In Interest of Kaundra C., 318 S.C. at 486, 458 S.E.2d at 444. Likewise, as set forth above, "[q]uestions of statutory interpretation, by themselves, do not rise to the level of actual controversy." Tourism Expenditure Review Comm., 403 S.C. at 81-82, 742 S.E.2d at 374. As a result, any determination would have to be addressed on a case by case basis, based on the specific action being challenged, as opposed to a request for a general advisory opinion determining the scope of delegable duties in general. In sum, the evidence at trial and the Stipulation of Issues for Trial support a finding that merely an advisory opinion was being sought. Therefore, the trial court's determination should be upheld.

4. Stipulated Issue 1(f): That the court construe the Bylaws of the Association and declare that the Bylaws require the Board of Directors to send out a ballot to the membership for voting if a proposed amendment to the Bylaws is submitted by an eligible member.

As set forth above, the trial court found that there simply was not enough evidence to construe the bylaws. Without sufficient evidence of the bylaws, there cannot be a justiciable controversy. Further, "[g]enerally, in order for a stockholder to be able to sue for corporate injuries, he must allege that he has exhausted his remedies within the corporation or show a sufficient reason for not doing so." Grant v. Gosnell, 266 S.C. 372, 374, 223 S.E.2d 413, 414 (1976). "Because of the fear that shareholder derivative suits could subvert the basic principle of management control over corporate operations, courts have generally characterized shareholder

derivative suits as a remedy of last resort.” Aztec Oil & Gas, Inc., 152 F. Supp. 3d at 858–59. Based on the evidence at trial, it is clear that Appellant had not exhausted his remedies within the corporation. Specifically, Plaintiff failed to exhaust his remedy of trying to force a special meeting to vote on a proposed amendment. At trial, Raymond Wedlake’s testimony acknowledged that there is a procedure under the bylaws to allow him to force a special meeting to vote on a proposed amendment, but he never attempted to pursue that remedy. (R. p. 317, line 23-p. 320, line 1). Likewise, S.C. Code Ann. § 33-31-702 of the South Carolina Nonprofit Corporation Act, provides that a corporation with members shall hold a special meeting of members “if the holders of at least five percent of the voting power of the corporation sign, date, and deliver to any corporate officer one or more written demands for the meeting describing the purpose or purposes for which it is to be held.” Again, Mr. Wedlake’s testimony indicates that he never attempted to pursue that remedy. (R. p. 317, line 23-p. 320, line 1). By failing to pursue his available remedies within the corporation, his derivative action is improper. Therefore, he Appellant lacks standing and there is no justiciable controversy.

IX. THIS ACTION AND THIS APPEAL ARE NOW MOOT

By Order of this Court filed on November 8, 2019, Respondents were granted leave to amend their brief to address the issue of mootness, such issue having been raised in Respondents’ Motion to Dismiss filed with this Court on August 8, 2019.

At the time of the filing of Appellant/Plaintiff’s Complaint in this action, the Board of Directors for the Association consisted solely of the four Respondents, Brian James, William Craigo, Denis Esteve, and Benjamin Acord. (R. pp. 534-541). At the time of trial on April 20, 2018, all of the Respondents were still serving as directors and constituted four out of the five directors for the Association. (Id.) However, since the time of trial, the composition of the Board

of Directors of the Association has changed. (Id.). At present, none of the Respondents are continuing to serve as directors or officers of the Association. (Id.).

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